THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Honorable Melody L. James, Commissioner  
W.C C File No. 1209379

**RECEIVED**  
DEC 15 2014  
**SC Court of Appeals**

Appellate Case No 2014-002069


Chris Chapman... Respondent,

v

Georgia-Pacific, Self-Insured Employer... Respondent,

Rakesh Chokshi, M D. Appellant.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**



Carl E. Pierce, II (S.C Bar No. 7946)  
Benjamin C. Smoot, II (S C. Bar No. 101372)  
Pierce, Hems, Sloan & Wilson, LLC  
321 East Bay Street (29401)  
PO Box 22437 (29413)  
Charleston, South Carolina 29413  
(843) 722-7733

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE COMMISSION ERR IN DETERMINING THAT A TREATING PHYSICIAN'S DEPOSITION IS SUBJECT TO THE FEE SCHEDULE REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE CASE IS ADMITTED BY AN EMPLOYER?
- II IF THE PHYSICIAN'S SERVICES HAVE NOT BEEN AUTHORIZED, IS THE PHYSICIAN ENTITLED TO ESTABLISH AND ENFORCE HIS OWN REASONABLE FEE FOR HIS DEPOSITION AS AN EXPERT UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of medical evaluation and treatment Rakesh Chokshi M.D. ("Appellant") provided to Respondent Chris Chapman's ("Claimant") on October 2, 2012. Ten months later, on August 12, 2013, Respondent Georgia-Pacific ("Employer") filed a motion to compel Appellant to provide his deposition pursuant to the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission 2010 Medical Services Provider Manual Fee Schedule ("Fee Schedule") and accept a fixed fee to offer testimony pertaining to Claimant's injuries in this workers' compensation case. Appellant was first made aware that his treatment of Claimant was associated with a workers' compensation claim on or about April 10, 2013 when Employer issued a Form 14B Physician's Statement to Appellant. The Form 14B unambiguously states

"The undersigned physician has been authorized by the Employer/Carrier to treat this Claimant for his or her injury by accident pursuant to §§ 42-15-60, 42-1-172 or 42-11-10."

Although Appellant completed and returned the Form 14B to Employer, Employer refused to authorize Appellant's services. In effect, Employer excluded Appellant from providing any service or submitting any report to the Commission to assist it in the resolution of this workers compensation claim. Appellant never submitted a Form 14A for

payment to Employer. At all times, Appellant received payment for his services to Claimant under Claimant's group health insurance policy.

In July 2013, Employer scheduled Appellant's deposition in this workers' compensation case and informed Appellant that he would be compensated \$400.00 for the first hour and \$100.00 for each quarter hour thereafter pursuant to fixed fees in accordance with the Fee Schedule. In advance of the deposition, Appellant communicated to Employer that his fees for the deposition were accurately reflected in his standard deposition invoice because Appellant's services had not been authorized by Employer under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act ("the Act").

Under the 2010 Medical Services Provider Manual ("Provider Manual") the Fee Schedule allows for a physician's deposition to be compensated by individual consideration outside of the fixed fees offered by Employer. In determining payment by individual consideration, the payer is required to consider the prevailing charges for similar services. Appellant's fees are commensurate with fees charged by physicians for their depositions in state court proceedings. The fee is \$1,000.00 for the first hour and \$500.00 for each hour thereafter. Employer refused to take Appellant's deposition in accordance with Appellant's fees and the deposition was cancelled. Employer then filed the motion to compel Appellant's deposition pursuant to the Fee Schedule that is the subject of this appeal on August 12, 2013.

Because Appellant was not authorized by Employer or the Commission to perform any service under the jurisdiction of the Act and Title 42 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, Appellant respectfully requests that this Court find the Commission erred as a matter of law and reverse the Full Commission's Decision and Order finding that Appellant is bound to the fees mandated by Employer under the Fee Schedule. Appellant is entitled to

a reasonable fee as set forth in his standard deposition fee invoice under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure

### FACTS

Appellant appeals the Decision and Order of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission ("Commission") dated September 3, 2014 affirming the Decision and Order of Commissioner Andrea C. Roche dated January 27, 2014 granting Employer's Motion to Compel Appellant to provide his deposition pursuant to the Fee Schedule in this matter and its sister case, *William W Huggins, Jr v City of Mullins and S C Municipal Insurance Trust*, W.C.C File No. 1122484, Appellate Case No 2014-002070.

Claimant sustained a work-related accident on July 23, 2012 causing injury to his chest, ribs, lower back, and left leg. On October 2, 2012, Appellant performed low back surgery on Claimant at Pee Dee Orthopaedic Associates in Florence, South Carolina. Claimant was admitted, registered, and treated by Appellant under Claimant's group health insurance policy. Throughout the course of Appellant's treatment of Claimant, it was never disclosed to Appellant or to his office that Appellant's treatment of the Claimant was related to an injury compensable under the Act. Claimant was referred to Appellant by Claimant's family care provider

Over six months later, on or about April 10, 2013, Employer issued a Form 14B to Appellant requesting that he complete the form in regard to Claimant's injuries and impairment to his spine. The Form 14B is generated by the Commission and states

"The undersigned physician has been authorized by the Employer/Carrier to treat this Claimant for his or her injury by accident pursuant to §§42-15-60, 42-1-172 or 42-11-10 "

Appellant accepted \$64.00 as mandated by the Fee Schedule from Employer in exchange for completion of the Form 14B. Upon further review of his treatment and evaluation of Claimant, Appellant subsequently revised the form on May 9, 2013 from 0% impairment to 10% impairment to Claimant's spine. Employer, however, continued to deny authorization of Appellant's services and treatment to Claimant.

In or around July 2013, Employer contacted Appellant's office to schedule Appellant's deposition in this workers' compensation case to examine Appellant's evaluation of Claimant's injuries. Because Employer refused to authorize Appellant's services and treatment of Claimant, Appellant informed Employer before the deposition that the fee for Appellant's deposition was \$1,000.00 for the first hour and \$500.00 for each hour thereafter in accordance with Appellant's standard deposition fee invoice. The fees proffered by Employer pursuant to the Fee Schedule were \$400.00 for the first hour and \$100.00 for each quarter hour thereafter. For an eight-hour deposition, the difference between these fees is only \$1,300.00.

Appellant's office explained that if it were later determined that Appellant's services were determined to be compensable under the Act that Appellant would remit payment for his deposition to conform to the fixed fees established in the Fee Schedule for a physician's deposition. Employer responded stating that it would only pay the fixed fees for depositions set forth in the Fee Schedule. Because Employer had not authorized Appellant's services, Appellant cancelled the deposition upon Employer's refusal to pay Appellant's fee in accordance with his standard deposition fee invoice. Employer filed a motion to compel the deposition on August 12, 2013.

## ARGUMENT

### **THE COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT A TREATING PHYSICIAN'S DEPOSITION IS SUBJECT TO THE FEE SCHEDULE REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE CASE IS ADMITTED BY AN EMPLOYER.**

Appellant requests that this Court reverse the Commission's Decision and Order finding that a treating physician's deposition in a workers' compensation case is subject to the Fee Schedule regardless of whether the Employer has authorized and admitted the physician's services. Because Employer never authorized Appellant's treatment of Claimant or entered into a contract with Appellant to compensate him for his medical services under the Act, the fixed fees contained in the Act's Fee Schedule do not control Appellant's compensation for his deposition. Appellant's completion of a Form 14B did not subject him to the jurisdiction of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act in this case because Employer continued to deny authorization for Appellant's services after Appellant completed the Form 14B. Appellant had no reasonable expectation that the Fee Schedule would control the fee for his deposition.

A physician's decision to be bound to the Act and its Fee Schedule for their services is voluntary. An employer or insurance carrier cannot refuse to authorize a treating physician's services on the belief that treatment is associated with a non-work related injury and then unilaterally bind the physician to fixed fees in the Fee Schedule for the sole purpose of collecting evidence in a workers' compensation case.

Here, Employer cannot refuse to authorize Appellant's services for Claimant's treatment under the Act and thereafter bind Appellant to a fixed fee under the Fee Schedule for Appellant's deposition. Appellant's compensation under the Fee Schedule is only proper when he has submitted to be bound by the Act and the employer has authorized his services or when it is determined that Appellant's services are related to a compensable

claim in a contested case by the Commission. Until authorization is given or a determination is made, compensation for Appellant's deposition requires individual consideration and payment of his own reasonable fee for such service.

Appellant's deposition is plainly sought to collect medical evidence pertaining to Claimant's injuries. Such testimony requires the special knowledge and skill of a medical expert. As a medical expert called upon to review the circumstances surrounding Claimant's injuries, Appellant is entitled to a reasonable fee for his deposition under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Because Appellant's services were not authorized by Employer under the Act, the appropriate fee is reflected in Appellant's standard deposition invoice, not the Fee Schedule.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act sets forth the standard for judicial review of decisions by the Commission. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380, Grant v. Grant Textiles, 327 S.C. 196, 200, 641 S.E.2d 869, 871 (2007); Lark v. Bi-Lo, 276 S.C. 130, 136, 276 S.E.2d 304, 307 (1981). Although the Court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, the Court may reverse a decision of the Commission if it is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the record as a whole. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380. The Court may find the Commission's findings clearly erroneous if they are based on a mistaken view of the evidence. Grayson v. Carter Rhoad Furniture, 312 S.C. 250, 252, 439 S.E.2d 859, 860 (Ct. App. 1993).

**I. BECAUSE EMPLOYER NEVER AUTHORIZED APPELLANT'S TREATMENT OF THE CLAIMANT APPELLANT'S COMPENSATION FOR HIS DEPOSITION IS NOT CONTROLLED BY THE FEE SCHEDULE.**

Without the authorization of a physician's services by an employer or insurance carrier in a workers' compensation case, the Act and its Fee Schedule do not control compensation for the physician's services including his deposition. The Provider Manual<sup>1</sup> states:

“Medical Providers must receive authorization from the employer or insurance carrier prior to providing treatment . An employer who authorizes treatment, whether verbally or in writing, enters into a contract with the provider and is responsible for paying for that service, even if it is demonstrated later that the injury was not work-related.”

Once authorization is given, Title 42 of the South Carolina Code of Laws holds that a physician must provide reports required by the Commission before the physician can collect a fee pursuant to the Fee Schedule:

Attorney fees, physician fees, and hospital charges for services under this title are subject to the approval of the commission, but a physician or hospital may not collect a fee from an employer or insurance carrier until the physician or hospital has made the reports required by the commission in connection with the case.

S.C. Code Ann § 42-15-90(A) Without authorization from the employer or insurance carrier permitting a physician to provide services, the physician cannot make reports required by the commission in connection with a workers' compensation case and cannot accept payment for his services under the Fee Schedule. The physician is excluded from the workers' compensation claims resolution process.

If a physician submits a Form 14A claim for payment of services to the employer or insurance carrier or completes and returns a Form 14B physician's statement with respect to his services, the physician offers to be bound to the Act's Fee Schedule for

---

<sup>1</sup> See Ch II, p 7 Payment for services provided by physicians in accordance with the Provider Manual is regulated by 67 S C Code Reg §1302(A)(1) that states “The Commission shall establish maximum allowable payments for medical services provided by medical practitioners based on a relative value scale and a conversion factor set by the Commission The maximum allowable payments and any policies governing the billing and payment of services provided by medical practitioners shall be published in a medical services provider manual ”

compensation of his services.<sup>2</sup> When the employer or insurance carrier accepts the physician's form, the employer or insurance carrier must authorize the physician's services and is required to compensate the physician in accordance with the Fee Schedule as mandated by the Act. A contract is created between the physician and employer or insurance carrier binding the employer or insurance carrier to compensate the physician for his services pursuant to the Fee Schedule for an efficient resolution of the claim. Although the physician forfeits his ability to establish and enforce his own fees for his services, he enjoys certain payment under a regulated payment policy enforced by the Commission.

When an employer or insurance carrier declines to authorize the physician's services, the employer or insurance carrier denies that the physician has performed any service compensable under the Act. No contract is created between the physician and employer or insurance carrier for certain payment under a regulated payment policy. To the extent the employer or insurance carrier desires to solicit the services of the physician, the physician has retained his ability to establish and enforce his own fees for his services. The physician's services are not admitted in a workers' compensation claim. Therefore, the Fee Schedule does not control compensation for those services. See S.C. Code Ann § 42-15-95(A) ("Fee Schedules established through the regulations of the Workers' Compensation Commission shall apply only to claims under Title 42."). If it is established later in a contested case by the Commission that a physician's services were in fact related to a workers' compensation claim, payment for those services under the Fee Schedule is then appropriate.

---

<sup>2</sup> See 67 S C Reg Ann § 1302(B) (Medical practitioners submit claims for payment to the employer or insurance carrier on the Form 14A )

In this case Employer failed to authorize Appellant's services before Employer attempted to bind Appellant to the Fee Schedule for compensation of his deposition. Appellant did not complete a Form 14A for payment to Employer. Although Appellant did complete and return a Form 14B to Employer, Employer refused to authorize Appellant's services. Appellant cannot be forced into the jurisdiction of the Act by virtue of the fact that a patient he treated filed a workers' compensation claim. Likewise, Employer cannot unilaterally decide that some of Appellant's services are subject to the Fee Schedule and that other services such as Appellant's actual medical treatment is not. The Act requires that a physician's services be authorized before the physician can receive compensation in accordance with the Fee Schedule. The Commission erred as a matter of law when it affirmed Commissioner Roche's order directing Appellant to give his deposition pursuant to fixed fees in the Fee Schedule because Employer refused to authorize Appellant's services.

**A. APPELLANT'S COMPLETION OF A FORM 14B DID NOT SUBJECT HIM TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE ACT.**

Appellant's completion of a Form 14B did not subject him to the jurisdiction of the Act because Employer refused to authorize Appellant's services after the Form 14B was returned to Employer. Appellant therefore had no reasonable expectation that future services would be controlled by the Act's Fee Schedule. Under the Act, a physician's signature on a Form 14B mandates that the undersigned physician has been authorized by the employer/carrier to treat the claimant for his or her injury by accident pursuant to §§42-15-60, 42-1-172 or 42-11-10.

S.C Code Ann § 42-15-60(A) requires in pertinent part that

“The employer shall provide medical, surgical, hospital, and other treatment, including medical and surgical supplies as reasonably may be

required, for a period not exceeding ten weeks from the date of an injury, to effect a cure or give relief and for an additional time as in the judgment of the commission will tend to lessen the period of disability as evidenced by expert medical evidence stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty ”

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-172(C) states.

“As used in this section, “medical evidence” means expert opinion or testimony stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, documents, records, or other material that is offered by a licensed and qualified medical physician ”

S.C. Code Ann § 42-11-10 holds:

“As used in this section, “medical evidence” means expert opinion or testimony stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, documents, records, or other material that is offered by a licensed health care provider.”

Read together, the statutes show that a physician must be authorized by an employer or insurance carrier to provide medical treatment or an expert opinion in treating the claimant before a physician is bound to the Act through a Form 14B.

After Appellant’s completion of a Form 14B on May 9, 2013, Employer made no attempt to authorize Appellant’s treatment and evaluation of Claimant. Employer’s failure to authorize Appellant’s treatment as mandated on the Form 14B voided any attempt by Appellant to be bound to the Fee Schedule for compensation of his services. No contract between Employer and Appellant existed by which Appellant was required to submit reports required by the Commission in connection with a workers’ compensation case. See S.C. Code Ann § 42-15-90, *supra*; 67 S.C. Code Reg § 1301(A).<sup>3</sup> No attempt was made by Employer to compensate Appellant for the medical services Appellant rendered to

---

<sup>3</sup> A medical practitioner or treatment facility shall furnish upon request all medical information relevant to the employee’s complaint of injury to the claimant, the employer, the employer’s representative, or the Commission. Payment for services rendered may be withheld from any medical practitioner or treatment facility who fails to comply with a request for this information. 67 S.C. Code Reg § 1301(A)

Claimant in 2012 Employer refused to authorize Appellant's treatment of Claimant despite Appellant's completion of the Form 14B. By declining to authorize Appellant's services after Appellant completed the Form 14B, Employer elected not to bind Appellant to the jurisdiction of the Act for future services including Appellant's deposition

**B. APPELLANT'S PROPOSED PROCEDURE TO REMIT PAYMENT FOR HIS DEPOSITION PURSUANT TO THE FEE SCHEDULE ONCE A COMPENSABLE CLAIM IS RECOGNIZED IS PROPER.**

Absent authorization from an employer for a physician's services under the Act, a physician has the right to consider and enforce his own fees for his services until it is determined that his services were related to treatment in a compensable claim under the Act. The Provider Manual affords compensation of a physician's deposition by individual consideration (IC) outside of the fixed fees in the Fee Schedule that establish \$400.00 for the first hour of testimony (CPT Code No. 99072) and \$100.00 for each additional fifteen minutes thereafter (CPT Code No. 99073). CPT Code No. 99074 was adapted for Commission use and compensates testimony by deposition of medical providers under individual consideration. To determine payment by individual consideration, the Provider Manual states.

“The payer will pay IC services based upon a review of the submitted documentation, the recommendation of the payer's medical consultant and/or the payer's review of prevailing charges for similar services.”

Physician's Independent Medical Evaluations (“IME”) in workers' compensation cases are also compensated by individual consideration instead of by a fixed fee. Because the Commission recognized that the physician retains the ability to establish his own fee for his services when the physician's services have not been authorized or admitted by an employer or insurance carrier under the Act, the Commission declined to bind the physician to the Fee Schedule for an independent evaluation.

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