THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

FEB 11 2015

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Appellate Panel

W.C.C. File No.: 1209379
Appellate Case No.: 2014-002069

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

Dr. Chokshi is a treating physician. Dr. Chokshi admits this fact throughout his brief when he points out that he treated the claimant under the claimant’s health insurance and did not treat the claimant pursuant to authorization by claimant’s employer. There is no evidence that claimant retained Dr. Chokshi to develop opinions favorable to the claimant based on the anticipation of litigation. Dr. Chokshi, by his own admission, had no idea that his treatment was rendered in conjunction with litigation, so it defies logic that he could be a retained or specially employed expert for purposes of this claim when he had no idea a workers’ compensation claim even existed.

Because he was not retained or employed by the claimant, the plain language of Rule 26 regarding fees for expert testimony does not apply to him; he is simply not entitled to compensation under Rule 26. Rather, Dr. Chokshi is merely a fact witness in this matter. He treated the claimant for a lower back injury. It is his treatment of this injury that is at issue in this case and the reason for which his deposition was sought — not because of any opinions Dr. Chokshi was employed by claimant’s counsel to give.

Dr. Chokshi has confused the fact that he may be qualified by reason of his training, education, or experience to offer an “expert opinion” at trial under Rule 702 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence with what a retained “expert” for use in litigation is. Merely being a witness who is allowed to offer an opinion under the Rules of Evidence is not the standard set forth in Rule 26 when it speaks to retained or specially employed experts. An experienced plumber who repairs

⁶ <http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/retain>

a faulty leak that results in property damage is entitled to give an opinion as to the cause of the leak. An experienced landscaper who repairs an irrigation ditch could likewise give an expert opinion about why the irrigation ditch failed. However, these opinions as to the cause of a failure or the cause of repairs do not convert either of them into a retained or employed expert on behalf of a party, entitling them to an expert fee under Rule 26. Dr. Chokshi is no different a witness—he both provided treatment and opined as to causation; that, however, does not convert him into a retained expert.

As noted, this is a question of first impression in South Carolina, and the issue can be resolved by the plain language of the rule without looking elsewhere. However, when looking elsewhere, it becomes obvious this is the majority rule in other jurisdictions which have addressed the issue.

In *State ex rel. Montgomery v. Whitten*, 262 P.3d 238 (Az. Ct. App. 2011), the Arizona Court of Appeals was faced with the same decision and determined that treating physicians were entitled only to the same witness fee every other witness was entitled to. In that case, the court held that “[a] fact witness typically testifies about information he or she has acquired independent of the litigation, the parties, or the attorneys.” Thus, the court concluded, a medical fact witness is one who did not have to perform additional work in order to answer questions other than reviewing his own records. The court further noted that merely because the treating physicians may “educate” the jurors by explaining terms and procedures in a manner more understandable for the trier of fact does not constitute expert testimony. *Id.* at 243. The court contrasted this with the testimony of a physician who had been asked to review records or testimony of another health care provider or to opine regarding the standard of care or treatment given by another provider. *Id.* at 242. This is exactly what Rule 26 and Rule 30 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure

envison and under the facts of this case, there is no question that Dr. Choskhi's deposition fee is governed by Rule 30.⁷

Numerous other states have reached the same result. *McDermott v. FedEx Ground Sys., Inc.*, 247 F.R.D. 58, 60–61 (D.Mass. 2007) (holding that the treating physician is entitled to no more than that provided under the statutory witness compensation scheme); *Mangla v. Univ. of Rochester*, 168 F.R.D. 137, 139 (W.D.N.Y.1996) (deposition questions concerning treating physicians' opinions based on their examination of a patient are a necessary part of the treatment of a patient and “do not make the treating physicians experts”); *Baker v. Taco Bell Corp.*, 163 F.R.D. 348, 349 (D.Colo.1995) (treating physician “testimony is based upon their personal knowledge of the treatment of the patient and not information acquired from outside sources for the purpose of giving an opinion in anticipation of trial”); *Clair v. Perry*, 66 So.3d 1078, 1079 n.1 (Fla.Dist.Ct.App.2011) (citing *Frantz v. Golebiewski*, 407 So.2d 283, 285 (Fla.Dist.Ct.App.1981)) (a treating physician is not generally an expert witness because “a treating doctor ... while unquestionably an expert, does not acquire his expert knowledge for the purpose of litigation but rather simply in the course of attempting to make his patient well”); *Brandt v. Med. Def. Assocs.*, 856 S.W.2d 667, 673 (Mo. 1993) (“The treating physician is first and foremost a fact witness, as opposed to an expert witness. In personal injury litigation, the treating physician is likely to be the principal fact witness on the issue of damages....”); *Nesselbush v. Lockport Energy Assocs., L.P.*, 647 N.Y.S.2d 436, 437 (N.Y.Sup.Ct. 1996) (citing *Sipes v. United States*, 111 F.R.D. 59, 61 (S.D.Cal. 1986)) (“[I]t is improper to name treating physicians as expert witnesses where the

⁷ Additionally, Dr. Chokshi's alleged entitlement to the witness fee under Rule 26 is not only inconsistent with the plain language of Rule 26, SCRPC, but also inconsistent with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, upon which our rules are based. The Advisory Committee Notes to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26(b)(4) recognized the distinction, stating, “[an] expert whose information was not acquired in preparation for trial but rather because he was an actor or viewer with respect to transactions or occurrences that are part of the subject matter of this lawsuit ... should be treated as an ordinary witness.”

information and opinions possessed by said physicians [were] obtained by virtue of their roles as actors or viewers of the transactions or occurrences giving rise to the litigation....”) *Davoll v. Webb*, 194 F.3d 1116, 1138 (10th Cir.1999) (a treating physician “is not considered an expert witness if he or she testifies about observations based on personal knowledge, including the treatment of the party”); *Fisher v. Ford Motor Co.*, 178 F.R.D. 195, 197 (N.D. Ohio 1998) (“Courts consistently have found that treating physicians are not expert witnesses merely by virtue of their expertise in their respective fields.”); *Beaty v. St. Luke’s Hosp. of Kansas City*, 298 S.W.3d 554, 559 (Mo.Ct.App.2009) (a treating physician “is first and foremost a fact witness”); *Donovan v. Bowling*, 706 A.2d 937, 941 (R.I.1998) (testimony by a treating physician is “entirely different from that of an expert retained solely for litigation purposes because a treating physician is like an eye-witness to an event and will be testifying primarily about the situation he or she actually encountered and observed while treating the patient.”).

Dr. Chokshi has given no rational basis why he, as a fact witness, is entitled to more than the same \$25.00 witness fee that every other profession is entitled, other than he has specialized training. The same could be said for nearly every skilled profession, and yet no exception is made for them within the Rules of Civil Procedure. Other professions aside from physicians provide an equal benefit to society as doctors and yet no court allows them to demand any fee outside of the one allowed by rule. Courts have no authority, and should not create a special class of fact witnesses who set their own fees for depositions while others cannot, as there is no basis for a court to weigh the burdens and costs of one profession versus another. This sentiment is best summed up in *Demar v. United States*, 199 F.R.D. 617, 619–20 (N.D. Ill. 2001) wherein the court held:

While physicians certainly have significant over-head costs and a special expertise, so do a myriad of other professions. For instance, should fact witnesses who happen to be engineers, attorneys, accountants or consultants—professions also with special expertise

and significant overhead costs—similarly be allowed more than the statutory fee prescribed by [the local rule]? If the answer is in the affirmative, then does [the local rule] merely apply to less prestigious professions? Who decides what professions fall under [the rule] versus the more lucrative “reasonable fee” under [Rule] 26(b)(4)(C)? This Court declines to set precedent in this jurisdiction that, essentially, singles out physicians for special treatment. Rather, the more prudent course of action is to follow the unambiguous tenets of [Federal Rule of Civil Procedure] 26(b)(4)(C) and [the local rule], which provide that expert witnesses—-independent of their profession—obtain compensation at a “reasonable fee”, while fact witnesses—-independent of their profession—receive compensation at the statutory fee of \$40.00. If Congress wishes to single out certain professions for higher compensation, that is certainly its prerogative, but this Court declines to enter that arena, which is, essentially, a slippery slope.

Id. at 619–20 (N.D.Ill.2001); *see also McDermott*, 247 F.R.D. at 61 (there is no “logical explanation as to why [a special] ... rule applies to physicians and no other class of professional or otherwise with ‘specialized knowledge’ about the testimony to be provided”); *Mangla*, 168 F.R.D. at 140 (physicians will “suffer no more inconvenience than many other citizens called forward to be deposed or testify as a trial witness in a matter in which they have first hand factual knowledge”); *cf. Irons v. Karceski*, 74 F.3d 1262, 1263–64 (D.C.Cir.1995) (holding that an attorney fact witness was not entitled to be paid his hourly billing rate and not unduly burdened by being compensated the statutory rate for an expected three day deposition).

Under both the plain language of the rule, and the intent of the rule, Dr. Chokshi is an ordinary witness, whose deposition was sought only for opinions that he developed out of his treatment of the claimant. Rule 30 does not make an exception for Dr. Chokshi or anyone in his profession to command a fee under Rule 26, when he does not meet the requirements of Rule 26. Accordingly, in the event the Full Commission erred in finding that Dr. Chokshi was required to accept the deposition fee as set forth in the fee schedule, the Court should find that under Rule 30,

SCRCP, Dr. Chokshi is entitled to only \$25.00 and Dr. Chokshi must therefore refund the overage paid to him by the Respondent in accordance with the SCWCC fee schedule.

Even if Dr. Chokshi could shoehorn himself into Rule 26 and thus be exempt from both the SCWCC fee schedule and Rule 30's witness fee provisions, this Court should still find that the decision to compel him to attend his deposition for \$400.00 was reasonable. Under Rule 26(b)(4)(C), any fee charged by an expert must be reasonable. In this case, the Full Commission determined that a \$400.00 per hour fee was a reasonable fee for Dr. Chokshi and that decision should not be disturbed on appeal, as there is no evidence the Full Commission abused its discretion in reaching that determination.

II. DR. CHOKSHI'S APPEAL MUST BE DISMISSED AS THE UNDERLYING CLAIM WAS RESOLVED VIA FULL AND FINAL CLINCHER SETTLEMENT.

- A. Dr. Chokshi's appeal is moot because the Full Commission lacked jurisdiction to rule on the issue once the claim was resolved via full and final clincher settlement.

Respondent's second argument has been raised in a separately-filed Motion to Dismiss, but is set forth herein to preserve the argument for further appeal.

As set forth above, the parties resolved the underlying claim via full and final settlement filed with the Commission on June 9, 2014, almost three months prior to the Decision and Order of the Commission on September 3, 2014. Under South Carolina case law, the Commission lacked the jurisdiction to issue its decision because the pending employee claim for compensation no longer existed; accordingly, Dr. Chokshi cannot appeal the Full Commission's Order. *South Carolina Property and Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass'n v. Carolinas Roofing and Sheet Metal Contractor's Self-Insurers Fund*, 303 S.C. 368, 401 S.E.2d 144 (1991) (citing *Laboureur v. Harleysville Mut. Ins. Co.*, 302 S.C. 540, 397 S.E.2d 526 (1990)).

In South Carolina, our Supreme Court has held that when there is a pending employee claim for compensation, the exclusive jurisdiction for the claim and all attendant issues is in the Workers' Compensation Commission. Id. On the other hand, when there exists no pending employee claim for compensation, the Commission lacks the jurisdiction to decide such questions. Id.

In the present case, by the time the Full Commission had heard the appeal of Dr. Chokshi and issued its Order, the case had concluded with no pending claim remaining. Thus, the Full Commission lacked jurisdiction to decide the appeal as to Dr. Chokshi. Because of this, the Respondent avers that even though the Commission properly affirmed Commissioner Roche's determination as to the applicability of the fee schedule in this case, the Commission should have refused to hear the appeal or declined to issue an opinion on the merits of Dr. Chokshi's arguments, as there was no jurisdiction to do so. As such, this Court should dismiss the appeal as moot.

B. Dr. Chokshi's appeal is moot because he complied with the discovery order rather than being held in contempt.

Even if the Court declines to dismiss the appeal as moot because of the lack of jurisdiction of the Full Commission at the time its Order was issued, Dr. Chokshi's appeal must be dismissed in any event, as Dr. Chokshi complied with the Order and gave his deposition pursuant to the fee schedule.

Under South Carolina law, it is well established that a non-party suffers no legal injury when ordered to participate in discovery and that the necessary legal injury does not arise until the non-party is held in contempt for failing to comply with the discovery order. *Ex parte Whetstone*, 289 S.C. 580, 347 S.E.2d 881 (1986). In this case, because Dr. Chokshi was not held in contempt of the court, he has no legal injury and no basis to appeal.

In *Whetstone*, a non-party witness appealed an order directing him to attend a deposition and provide certain documents. The Court held that “an order directing a non-party to submit to discovery is not immediately appealable.” *Id.* at 580, 347 S.E.2d at 881. In so holding, the Court outlined the appropriate procedure available to a non-party who wishes to appeal a discovery order. A non-party may either: (1) comply with the discovery order and waive any right to challenge it on appeal; or (2) refuse to comply with the order and appeal after being held in contempt for the failure to comply. *Id.*

In the present case, Dr. Chokshi chose to comply with the Commission’s Order and give a deposition and accept the fee schedule rate rather than be held in contempt. While he “reserved the right” to contest the fee paid to him for his deposition, this is of no legal consequence because our Supreme Court has established the manner in which one can appeal a discovery order. Because Dr. Chokshi was not held in contempt of court with respect to the Order compelling his deposition in accordance with the fee schedule, he has no right to appeal said Order. Therefore, the appeal should be dismissed.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, the Respondent Georgia-Pacific respectfully requests that this Court affirm the Order of the Full Commission Appellate Panel in finding that Dr. Chokshi: (1) was subject to the fee schedule; (2) alternatively, the SCWCC did not abuse its discretion in compelling Dr. Chokshi to give his deposition for \$400.00 per hour, as that was a reasonable fee; or (3) alternatively the SCWCC did not err in compelling Dr. Chokshi to give his deposition, as he was only entitled to \$25.00 under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Additionally, the Respondent would ask this Court to dismiss the appeal, as it is moot/not preserved for appeal, or the SCWCC no longer had jurisdiction over these issues.